

# MAINE STATE LEGISLATURE

The following document is provided by the  
**LAW AND LEGISLATIVE DIGITAL LIBRARY**  
at the Maine State Law and Legislative Reference Library  
<http://legislature.maine.gov/lawlib>



Reproduced from electronic originals  
(may include minor formatting differences from printed original)

**LAWS**  
**OF THE**  
**STATE OF MAINE**

**AS PASSED BY THE**

**ONE HUNDRED AND TWENTY-NINTH LEGISLATURE**

**FIRST SPECIAL SESSION**

**August 26, 2019**

**SECOND REGULAR SESSION**

**January 8, 2020 to March 17, 2020**

**THE GENERAL EFFECTIVE DATE FOR  
FIRST SPECIAL SESSION  
NON-EMERGENCY LAWS IS  
NOVEMBER 25, 2019**

**THE GENERAL EFFECTIVE DATE FOR  
SECOND REGULAR SESSION  
NON-EMERGENCY LAWS IS  
JUNE 16, 2020**

**PUBLISHED BY THE REVISOR OF STATUTES  
IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE MAINE REVISED STATUTES ANNOTATED,  
TITLE 3, SECTION 163-A, SUBSECTION 4.**

---

---

**Augusta, Maine  
2020**

If the renewal writ is filed or recorded before the expiration of the 10-year period of the original writ of execution, the renewal writ relates back to the date that the original writ of execution was filed or recorded and prevents the expiration of the lien.

See title page for effective date.

---

---

**CHAPTER 623**

**S.P. 313 - L.D. 1081**

**An Act Regarding Smoking  
in Vehicles When a Minor Is  
Present**

**Be it enacted by the People of the State of Maine  
as follows:**

**Sec. 1. 29-A MRSA §2120**, as enacted by PL 2017, c. 165, §9, is amended to read:

**§2120. Smoking in vehicles when minor ~~under 16~~  
years of age is present**

**1. Definition.** As used in this section, unless the context otherwise indicates, "smoking" means inhaling, exhaling, burning or carrying a lighted cigarette, cigar, pipe, weed, plant, regulated narcotic or other combustible substance.

**2. Prohibition.** Smoking is prohibited in a motor vehicle by the operator or a passenger when a ~~person who has not attained 16 years of age~~ minor is present in that motor vehicle, regardless of whether the motor vehicle's windows are open.

**3. Prohibition on inspection or search.** A motor vehicle, the contents of the motor vehicle or the operator or a passenger in the motor vehicle may not be inspected or searched solely because of a violation of this section.

**4. Penalty.** A person who violates subsection 2 commits a traffic infraction for which a fine of \$50 must be adjudged.

See title page for effective date.

---

---

**CHAPTER 624**

**S.P. 460 - L.D. 1498**

**An Act To Provide Equity for  
Commercial Vehicles on Roads  
and Bridges in Maine**

**Be it enacted by the People of the State of Maine  
as follows:**

**Sec. 1. 29-A MRSA §2354-C, sub-§1, first ¶**, as amended by PL 2015, c. 119, §§1 and 2, is further amended to read:

**1. Canadian gross vehicle weight limits.** Notwithstanding section 2354, except as provided in subsection 5, the Commissioner of Transportation, in consultation with the Department of Public Safety and the Department of the Secretary of State, is authorized to allow certain commercial vehicles at Canadian gross vehicle weight limits to travel from the United States-Canada border at Calais to Baileyville, from the United States-Canada border at Madawaska to a paper mill at Madawaska and from the United States-Canada border at Van Buren to a rail yard in Van Buren. Vehicles are allowed to travel from the United States-Canada border under the following conditions.

**Sec. 2. 29-A MRSA §2354-C, sub-§4**, as enacted by PL 2009, c. 326, §2, is amended to read:

**4. Monitor; report.** The Department of Transportation shall monitor and evaluate the effects of the allowance under this section on road conditions. The Commissioner of Transportation shall submit ~~an initial~~ a report to the joint standing committee of the Legislature having jurisdiction over transportation matters ~~for presentation to the Second Regular Session of the 126th Legislature and a final report to the First Regular Session of the 129th Legislature~~ by January 1, 2024. The report must include any findings regarding the effects on road conditions and recommendations for continuance, discontinuance or modification of the allowance under this section. The joint standing committee of the Legislature having jurisdiction over transportation matters may submit legislation based on the findings and recommendations in the report to the Second Regular Session of the 131st Legislature.

**Sec. 3. 29-A MRSA §2354-C, sub-§5** is enacted to read:

**5. Exemption for wood.** After December 31, 2025, the department may not authorize under this section the routes identified in subsection 1 for the travel of commercial vehicles transporting wood, as defined in Title 10, section 2361-A, subsection 11, at Canadian gross vehicle weight limits that exceed the gross vehicle weight limits established in this chapter. Nothing in this subsection prevents the department from authorizing an entity to operate a specified commercial motor vehicle configuration on a specified route of travel under section 2354-D.

See title page for effective date.

---

---

**CHAPTER 625**

**S.P. 498 - L.D. 1563**

**An Act To Encourage the  
Development of Broadband  
Coverage in Rural Maine**

**Be it enacted by the People of the State of Maine  
as follows:**

**Sec. 1. 5 MRSA §12004-G, sub-§33-F**, as enacted by PL 2005, c. 665, §1, is amended to read:

**33-F.**

|            |   |                   |                    |
|------------|---|-------------------|--------------------|
| Technology | <del>ConnectME</del><br>ConnectMaine<br>Authority | Not<br>Authorized | 35-A MRSA<br>§9203 |
|------------|---|-------------------|--------------------|

**Sec. 2. 5 MRSA §12021, sub-§6, ¶B**, as enacted by PL 2011, c. 616, Pt. A, §1, is amended to read:

B. The ~~ConnectME~~ ConnectMaine Authority under Title 35-A, section 9203;

**Sec. 3. 30-A MRSA §5225, sub-§1, ¶C**, as amended by PL 2019, c. 260, §1, is further amended by amending subparagraph (9) to read:

(9) Costs associated with broadband and fiber optics expansion projects, including preparation, planning, engineering and other related costs in addition to the construction costs of those projects. If an area within a municipality or plantation is unserved with respect to broadband service, as defined by the ~~ConnectME~~ ConnectMaine Authority as provided in Title 35-A, section 9204-A, subsection 1, broadband and fiber optics expansion projects may serve residential or other nonbusiness or non-commercial areas in addition to business or commercial areas within the municipality or plantation; and

**Sec. 4. 35-A MRSA §2503, sub-§2**, as amended by PL 2017, c. 344, §1, is further amended to read:

**2. Notice.** The applicant may give public notice of the application by publishing its description of the proposed facility once in a newspaper circulated in the municipality or municipalities encompassing the limits of the proposed location. The applicant shall send a copy of any application filed with the Department of Transportation to the municipal clerk of each municipality in which the facilities are located, or to the clerk of the county commissioners in the case of facilities within an unorganized township, except that the applicant may, without publication of its application, place its facility described in its application on receipt of a permit from the licensing authority as may be otherwise provided. If a proposed facility is located underground and is in excess of 500 feet in length, the applicant shall, within 5 business days of submitting an application to the applicable licensing authority, provide the ~~ConnectME~~ ConnectMaine Authority established in Title 5, section 12004-G, subsection 33-F a notice that includes a description and the location of the proposed facility.

**Sec. 5. 35-A MRSA §7104-B, sub-§5, ¶I**, as enacted by PL 2019, c. 52, §4, is amended to read:

I. To provide, within existing resources, support for qualified libraries in rural areas of the State with

greatest need, as determined in consultation with the State Librarian, the Commissioner of Education and the ~~ConnectME~~ ConnectMaine Authority, to offer portable wireless access points, or hotspots, for mobile Internet access.

**Sec. 6. 35-A MRSA §9202, sub-§2**, as enacted by PL 2005, c. 665, §3, is amended to read:

**2. Authority.** "Authority" means the ~~ConnectME~~ ConnectMaine Authority established in section 9203.

**Sec. 7. 35-A MRSA §9203**, as amended by PL 2019, c. 343, Pt. QQ, §2, is further amended to read:

**§9203. ~~ConnectME~~ ConnectMaine Authority**

**1. Establishment; membership.** The ~~ConnectME~~ ConnectMaine Authority is established to further the goals and policies in section 9202-A. The authority is created as a body corporate and politic and a public instrumentality of the State. The exercise by the authority of powers conferred by this chapter is considered to be the performance of essential governmental functions. The authority consists of the following 7 voting members:

- A. The chair of the Public Utilities Commission or the chair's designee;
- B. The Chief Information Officer of the State or the officer's designee;
- C. One representative of consumers, appointed by the Governor;
- D. Two members with significant knowledge of communications technology, appointed by the Governor;
- E. The Commissioner of Economic and Community Development or the commissioner's designee; and
- F. One member with significant knowledge of telemedicine as defined in Title 24-A, section 4316, subsection 1, appointed by the Governor.

Compensation of members is as provided in Title 5, section 12004-G, subsection 33-F.

**2. Terms; chair; vacancies.** All members are appointed for 3-year terms. The Governor shall appoint a chair from among the 4 members appointed by the Governor. In the event of a vacancy in the membership, the Governor shall appoint a replacement member for the remainder of that vacated term. Each member of the authority serves until that member's successor is appointed and qualified. Any member of the authority is eligible for reappointment.

**3. Officers; quorum.** The authority may elect a secretary and a treasurer, who may, but need not, be members of the authority. Four members of the authority constitute a quorum, and the affirmative vote of 4

members is necessary for any action taken by the authority.

**4. Participation by members.** A member may participate in a meeting of the authority and place a vote electronically or telephonically as long as members of the public have an opportunity to listen to the deliberations of the authority and otherwise participate in or observe the proceedings of the authority consistent with Title 1, section 405.

**5. Indemnification.** Each member of the authority must be indemnified by the authority against expenses actually and necessarily incurred by the member in connection with the defense of any action or proceeding in which the member is made a party by reason of being or having been a member of the authority and against any final judgment rendered against the member in that action or proceeding.

**7. Staff; central broadband planning board.** The Department of Economic and Community Development shall provide staff for the authority. That staff shall serve as the central broadband planning board for the State and shall support the authority in accordance with the provisions of this chapter.

**Sec. 8. 35-A MRSA §9204-A, sub-§7,** as enacted by PL 2015, c. 284, §7, is amended to read:

**7. Administer funds.** The authority shall administer the ~~ConnectME~~ ConnectMaine Fund as established pursuant to section 9211.

**Sec. 9. 35-A MRSA §9207,** as enacted by PL 2005, c. 665, §3, is amended to read:

**§9207. Collection of data**

Subject to the provisions in this section, the authority ~~may~~ shall collect ~~data~~ data annually from communications service providers and any wireless ~~provider providers~~ provider providers that own or operate advanced communications technology infrastructure in the State data concerning infrastructure deployment ~~and costs, revenues and subscriberhip for the purpose of developing mapping information to assist the authority in implementing the provisions of section 9202-A; pricing data for advertised retail pricing for broadband services offered in the State; and revenue data for the purpose of assessing communications service providers subject to section 9211. The authority shall permit providers that have provided data to the authority at a level of detail that the authority has determined acceptable to continue to provide the data in the same format. For mapping data, the authority, whenever possible, shall use data formats consistent with data formats used for mapping at the federal level.~~

**1. Confidential information.** ~~If the authority, on its own or upon request of any person or entity, determines that public access to specific information about communications service providers in the State could compromise the security of public utility systems to the~~

~~detriment of the public interest or that specific information is of a competitive or proprietary nature, the authority shall issue an order designating that information as confidential. Information that may be designated as confidential pursuant to this subsection includes, but is not limited to, network diagrams. The authority may designate information as confidential under this subsection only to the minimum extent necessary to protect the public interest or the legitimate competitive or proprietary interests of a communications service provider. Data provided to the authority pursuant to this section is confidential. The authority, upon request or on its own motion, may initiate a proceeding to determine whether to remove the confidential designation of specific information provided under this section. The authority shall adopt rules pursuant to section 9205, subsection 3 defining the criteria it will use to satisfy the requirements of this paragraph and the types of information that would satisfy the criteria. The authority may not designate any information as remove the confidential designation under this subsection until those rules are finally adopted.~~

Information designated as confidential under this subsection is not a public record under Title 1, section 402, subsection 3.

**2. Protection of information.** A communications service provider may request that confidential or proprietary information provided to the authority under ~~subsection 4~~ this section not be viewed by those members of the authority who could gain a competitive advantage from viewing the information. Upon such a request, the authority shall ensure that the information provided is viewed only by those members of the authority and staff who do not stand to gain a competitive advantage and that there are adequate safeguards to protect that information from members of the authority who could gain a competitive advantage from viewing the information.

**Sec. 10. 35-A MRSA §9208, sub-§3,** as enacted by PL 2005, c. 665, §3, is amended to read:

**3. Investments.** Contains a listing of any investments of money in the ~~ConnectME~~ ConnectMaine Fund, as established pursuant to section 9211, and a tracking of the infrastructure improvements resulting from the investments; and

**Sec. 11. 35-A MRSA §9211,** as amended by PL 2019, c. 343, Pt. SSSS, §§3 and 4, is further amended to read:

**§9211. ~~ConnectME~~ ConnectMaine Fund**

**1. ~~ConnectME~~ ConnectMaine Fund established.** The ~~ConnectME~~ ConnectMaine Fund, referred to in this section as "the fund," is established as a nonlapsing fund administered by the authority for the purposes of supporting the activities and projects of the authority under this chapter. The ConnectMaine Fund may also be referred to as "the ConnectME Fund."

**2. Assessment.** After receiving authorization pursuant to Title 5, section 8072 to finally adopt major substantive rules under section 9205, subsection 3 or after January 15, 2007, whichever is later, the authority may require every communications service provider to contribute on a competitively neutral basis to the fund. The assessment may not exceed 0.25% of the revenue received or collected for all communications services provided in this State by the communications service provider. A facilities-based provider of wireless voice or data retail service may voluntarily agree to be assessed by the authority as a communications service provider under this subsection.

**2-A. Surcharge; collection.** Beginning January 1, 2020, in addition to the assessment imposed pursuant to subsection 2, a ConnectME surcharge of 10¢ per line or number is imposed. The assessment imposed pursuant to subsection 2 and the surcharge imposed pursuant to this subsection must be collected from the customer on a monthly basis by each communications service provider. Revenue must be deposited in the fund.

**3. Explicit identification of assessment and surcharge on customer bills.** A communications service provider assessed pursuant to subsection 2 may recover the amount of the assessment from the provider's customers. If a provider recovers the amount from its customers, it must explicitly identify the amount owed by a customer on the customer's bill and indicate that the funds are collected for use in the ConnectME Fund. Beginning January 1, 2020, the ConnectME surcharge imposed pursuant to subsection 2-A must be shown separately from the assessment imposed pursuant to subsection 2 as a statewide ConnectME surcharge on the customer's bill.

**Sec. 12. 35-A MRSA §9216**, as amended by PL 2015, c. 151, §§1 and 2 and c. 284, §10, is repealed.

**Sec. 13. 35-A MRSA §9217, sub-§1**, as enacted by PL 2015, c. 284, §11, is amended to read:

**1. Requirements Elements of plans.** Plans funded through grants under this section ~~must~~ may include:

- A. ~~Define~~ A description of local broadband needs and goals;
- B. ~~Inventory~~ An inventory of existing broadband infrastructure assets within the municipality, municipalities or region;
- C. ~~Include a~~ A gap analysis defining the additional broadband infrastructure necessary to meet identified needs and goals;
- D. ~~Include one~~ One or more potential network designs, cost estimates, operating models and potential business models based on input from broadband providers operating within the municipality, municipalities or region and any other parties that submit a network design solution in the course of

developing the plan to address any broadband gaps identified in paragraph C; and

E. ~~Include an~~ An assessment of all municipal procedures, policies, rules and ordinances that have the effect of delaying or increasing the cost of broadband infrastructure deployment.

The authority shall make all plans developed using grant funds under this section available on the authority's publicly accessible website.

**Sec. 14. Transition provisions.** The following provisions govern the transition of the ConnectME Authority to the ConnectMaine Authority.

1. The ConnectMaine Authority is the successor in every way to the powers, duties and functions of the former ConnectME Authority.

2. All existing rules, regulations and procedures in effect, in operation or adopted in or by the ConnectME Authority or any of its administrative units or officers are hereby declared in effect and continue in effect until rescinded, revised or amended by the proper authority.

3. All existing contracts, agreements and compacts currently in effect in the ConnectME Authority continue in effect.

4. Any positions authorized and allocated subject to the personnel laws to the former ConnectME Authority are transferred to the ConnectMaine Authority and may continue to be authorized.

5. All records, property and equipment previously belonging to or allocated for the use of the former ConnectME Authority become, on the effective date of this Act, part of the property of the ConnectMaine Authority.

6. All existing forms, licenses, letterheads and similar items bearing the name of or referring to the "ConnectME Authority" may be utilized by the ConnectMaine Authority until existing supplies of those items are exhausted.

**Sec. 15. Rulemaking.** Within 90 days of the effective date of this Act, the ConnectMaine Authority shall commence rulemaking to implement the provisions of this Act. In adopting rules to implement changes to the Maine Revised Statutes, Title 35-A, section 9207, the authority shall consider permitting providers to submit data in a shapefile format. For the purposes of this section, "shapefile" means a vector data storage format for storing the location, shape and attributes of geographic features. Rules adopted under this section are routine technical rules pursuant to Title 5, chapter 375, subchapter 2-A.

See title page for effective date.